017 FILED SID J. WHITE IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA MAR 18 1997 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_ Chief Deputy Clerk

ARTHUR LEE HUGHES,

Petitioner,

v.

æ.

CASE NO. 89,919

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

- 1

GLEN P. GIFFORD Assistant Public Defender Second Judicial Circuit Fla. Bar No. 0664261 301 S. Monroe, Suite 401 Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on a certified question of great public importance from the First District Court of Appeal. Jurisdiction lies under Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution. As to the certified question, Hughes asserts that the trial court erred in denying his demand to represent himself, and that the district court erred in declining to reverse on this error. Hughes also argues that the trial court failed to adequately inquire into his demand to fire his **lawyer**, and erred in giving a misleading jury instruction on the defense of independent act.

In this brief, citations to documents in Volume I of the record on appeal appear as (R[page number]). Citations to consecutively-numbered transcript pages in the remaining volumes appear as (T[page number]).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The petitioner, ARTHUR LEE HUGHES, was indicted on June 3, 1993 for first degree murder, armed burglary, armed kidnaping, three counts of armed robbery and shooting a deadly missile. (R3-6) He was appointed conflict counsel on June 8, 1993. (R16-18) On April 6, 1994, counsel filed a motion to suppress statements which incorporated a memorandum prepared by Hughes. (R26-31) There is no record of a hearing or ruling on the motion. The case was continued. (R23-25) On December 27, 1994, Hughes filed a pro se motion for discharge on speedy trial grounds. (R32) On January 4, 1995, he filed a second pro se motion for discharge and a pleading entitled "Defendant's Give Judicial Notice," in which he stated that he was dismissing trial counsel, Richard D. Nichols. (R38-41)

The court entertained the defendant's pro se motions on February 10, 1995. (T16) Hughes stated unequivocally that he wanted to discharge Nichols. (T17) Upon being informed that he would not be appointed cocounsel, Hughes said he was prepared to do without counsel. (T18) He said he wanted to fire his lawyer because of disagreement, inadequate communication, the failure to keep him informed, and unwillingness to assert his right to a speedy trial. (T19, 25) The court asked counsel to provide an overview of the case, and queried Hughes about the disadvantages of proceeding **pro** se. (T19-25) Counsel said that, if he remained

on the case, he would probably refile Hughes' speedy trial motions in proper form. (T24) The court denied the motion to discharge counsel, finding that "there are unusual circumstances which would deprive Mr. Hughes of a fair trial if he were to conduct his own defense." (T25) The speedy trial motions were denied as unauthorized pro se pleadings by a represented defendant. (T26, R44-47)

On March 20, 1995, the court granted motions for continuance by the state and Hughes' counsel. (T31, R59-61, 63) The court entertained a "Final Motion for Discharge" filed by Hughes March 15, 1996, as a request for reconsideration, and denied it. (T56-57, 62, T42-43) Judge Davis said he was through with the speedy trial issue in this case. (T43)

On the day of jury selection, April 17, 1995, Hughes again stated his desire to fire Nichols. (T46) Stating he had received no depositions and felt he was going to trial blind, Hughes initially declined to participate in the proceedings. (T46-47) He complied with the court's order to sit next to his attorney. (T48)

Trial ensued on the murder, burglary and robbery counts. Hughes and a codefendant, Maurice Williams, were tried before separate juries. During the charge conference, Hughes' counsel proposed a special instruction on the defense of independent act. (R67, T746) Following extended argument, the court opted to give

a different independent act instruction, to which counsel acquiesced. (T746-769, 851, R78) During deliberations, the jury asked, "Does the principal theory apply to all five counts?" (T900) Again with the acquiescence of defense counsel after initial misgivings, the court responded simply, "Yes." (T900-907) A juror stated, "That answer is all we were waiting on," and declined the court's offer of lunch. (T908) Minutes later, the jury returned verdicts of guilty as charged on all counts. (T909, 924-925, R115-123)

The court adjudicated Hughes guilty of all offenses, and sentenced him to life imprisonment with a mandatory 25-year term for murder (Count 1), consecutive to life sentences as a habitual offender for the burglary and robberies (Counts 2, 4-6). (T936-937, R133-143) The habitual offender sentences are concurrent to one another.

Timely notice of appeal was filed, and the public defender was appointed to represent Hughes on appeal. (R150, T937) On direct appeal, Hughes argued that the trial court conducted an inadequate inquiry into his complaints against his attorney, wrongly denied his clearly expressed demand for **self**representation, and gave a misleading instruction on independent act. The Court affirmed, addressing only the denial of **self**representation. <u>Hughes v. State</u>, 1st DCA No. 95-2168, 22 Fla. L. Weekly **D99a** (1st DCA Dec. 30, 1996). The district court found

that 'ample precedent" supported the trial court's denial of self-representation. However, the court also observed that a sister court had questioned this use of the "fair trial" standard and so certified the same question of great public importance as in <u>Bowen v. State</u>, 677 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) (en banc), <u>rev. pending</u>, Fla.Sup.Ct, No. 88,219:

> ONCE A TRIAL COURT HAS DETERMINED THAT A DEFENDANT HAS KNOWINGLY WAIVED HIS OR HER RIGHT TO COUNSEL, MAY THE COURT NONETHELESS REQUIRE THE DEFENDANT TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL BECAUSE OF CONCERN THAT THE DEFENDANT MIGHT BE DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL IF TRIED WITHOUT SUCH REPRESENTATION?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case concerns the death by gunshot of James Timothy Channelle, which occurred April 24, 1993 during a robbery and burglary at the home of Thomas Lynch and Rose Montgomery in the Springfield section of Jacksonville. The burglary was carried out by Arthur Hughes, 20 years old, Maurice Williams, 21 years old, and Alexander Jones, 17 years old. (T396, 439, 629, 657-658) Jones committed the killing. (T669) The facts which follow focus on evidence bearing on the court's instructions on the defense asserting of independent act, Point III in the brief.

Hughes, Williams and Jones decided to rob Rose Montgomery, known as the "Weed Lady," in the belief that she possessed \$20,000 she had gained by cheating an associate in a drug deal. (T401-402, 639-641) Jones was the only one of the three to carry a gun during the robbery. (T654) He testified that, in planning the robbery, Williams and Hughes told him that if anyone resisted, or "bucked the jack," he should pull the trigger. (T673, 684) There were no other discussions before the robbery whether anyone should be shot. (T669)

Jones, Williams and Hughes broke in through the front door of the house after being denied access by Montgomery's guest, Timothy Channelle. (T657-658) They subdued the occupants, Lynch, Montgomery and Channelle. (T249-250, 310-313) Jones, who took a plea bargain before trial, testified that Williams and Hughes

told him several times during the robbery to point the gun. (T659-662) After the three men went through the house and selected items to take, Hughes and Williams told Jones, "Let's go. We waste too much time here." (T668) Hughes was at the front door and Williams had just passed Jones on his way out when Jones turned and shot without looking toward the ground where Channelle and Montgomery lay. (T670, 685) He said he shot solely to see how it felt, and did not mean to hurt or kill Channelle. (T681) Neither Channelle nor Montgomery were resisting. (T684) At the point he shot, the robbery was over, Jones testified. (T684)

Rose Montgomery testified that she went into a closet when she thought the assailants were leaving. (T260) She heard a voice say "Arthur man, you don't have to shoot nobody." (T261) She then heard a gunshot followed by Channelle's cry that he had been shot. (T262)

Hughes gave a statement to police detective William R. Baer following his arrest. (T401-423) He said that, before they entered the house, he and Williams told Jones not to shoot anyone. (T421) Inside the house, Williams told Jones not to shoot Channelle because he was too old. (T409, 422) Hughes said Jones poked his head out of the room and said, "I'm going to kill the motherfucker." (T409) Hughes then heard a shot. (T409) Hughes stated that, after the robbery, Jones said he had fired because Channelle "was bucking, didn't want to give it up." (T422-423)

Next day, Jones laughed when he heard Channelle died. (T423)

A second police detective who helped take statements from witnesses and listened to the defendants' statements, said that as far as he could tell, Hughes never encouraged Jones to shoot anyone. (T529)

The medical examiner testified that Channelle died from blood loss after the bullet entered his left buttocks, tore thorough his inferior vena **cava** and liver, and exited from his right abdomen. (T599, 602-603)

The take in the robbery, divided by the three men, was 10 bags of marijuana, \$300 cash, **a**pistol and some jewelry. (T422-423, 688-689).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. A trial court may not deny self-representation to an accused who is aware of the dangers and disadvantages but nonetheless demands to proceed pro se. The court must permit exercise of this Sixth Amendment right, recognized in Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), even in a case in which the state is seeking the death penalty. The pendency of capital trial proceedings alone cannot constitute 'unusual circumstances" sufficient to justify forcing counsel on an unwilling defendant who knowingly elects self-representation. Accordingly, if not rephrased, the certified question must be answered in the negative: Once a trial court has determined that a defendant has knowingly waived the right to counsel, the court may not require the defendant to be represented by counsel. A modified certified question, more suited to these facts, should be answered: The special status of a capital case is not, of itself, an unusual circumstance authorizing denial of self-representation by an accused who knowingly waives the right to counsel.

Both answers compel reversal of Hughes' convictions and remand for a new trial. Hughes made repeated unequivocal demands to represent himself. He participated in trial with counsel he did not want only in compliance with the trial court's command. He did not thereafter ratify counsel's representation or performance. Denial of this unequivocal demand to exercise a

constitutional right, which Hughes never abandoned either explicitly or implicitly, caused reversible error.

II. The trial court failed to conduct an adequate inquiry into Hughes' reasons for his demand to discharge appointed counsel. The court merely asked counsel for an overview of the case, which did not include responses to Hughes' specific grievances. Absent a specific inquiry into the grievances raised, the court could not determine whether good cause existed for discharge of counsel and appointment of substitute counsel, in accord with Nelson v. State, 274 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 4th DCA 1973).

III. Reversible error resulted from the trial court's instruction on independent act. Unlike the instruction proposed by the defense, the court's instruction hinged guilt or innocence solely on causal connection while it buried the crux of the defense, lack of proof that the killing was in furtherance of the felony, in arcane legal jargon disconnected from guilt or innocence. This instruction deprived Hughes of his defense and nullified an essential element of felony murder. The error was magnified when the judge answered a jury question by stating that the principal theory applied to all counts, including murder. The instruction on principal did not limit liability for felony murder to a killing committed in furtherance of the felony. As a result, the jury received incomplete, misleading instructions on the sole disputed issue at trial, causing fundamental error.

ARGUMENT

I. A DEFENDANT WHO MAKES A KNOWING WAIVER OF HIS RIGHT TO COUNSEL HAS A CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO SELF-REPRESENTATION IN A CAPITAL CASE, THE TRIAL COURT'S CONCERN THAT HE OR SHE MAY NOT RECEIVE A FAIR TRIAL NOTWITHSTANDING.

The district court certified this question:

ONCE A TRIAL COURT HAS DETERMINED THAT A DEFENDANT HAS KNOWINGLY WAIVED HIS OR HER RIGHT TO COUNSEL, MAY THE COURT NONETHELESS REQUIRE THE DEFENDANT TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL BECAUSE OF CONCERN THAT THE DEFENDANT MIGHT BE DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL IF TRIED WITHOUT SUCH REPRESENTATION?

Rephrased, the question essentially is whether a trial court may deny an accused his state and federal rights to **self**representation, knowingly exercised, on grounds that the rights must in some circumstances yield to the interest in a fair trial. It calls, in short, for a balance of interests. Though appropriate for resolution of many legal questions, a balancing approach to self-representation is clearly contrary to Sixth Amendment jurisprudence, including a Second DCA opinion certifying the same question as in this case and two recent pronouncements from this Court.

In the Second DCA case, denial of self-representation led the district court to reverse convictions of second-degree murder and attempted first degree murder. <u>Bowen v. State</u>, 677 So. 2d 863 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996) (en <u>banc</u>), <u>rev. pending</u>, Fla.Sup.Ct. No. 88,219. Here, however, though it was presented with similar

facts and certified the same question, the district court affirmed. It found that the trial judge's reference to unspecified "unusual circumstances" which would preclude a fair trial if Hughes represented himself was supported by 'ample precedent" in the First District. It cited <u>Smith v. State</u>, 444 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984), in which the court's recitation of this principle is dicta.

Nothing in this record reflects the sort of unusual circumstance which might justify denial of self-representation. A recent case featuring such an unusual circumstance is <u>Visage v.</u> <u>State,</u> 664 So. 2d 1101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), <u>cause dismissed</u>, 679 so. 2d 735 (Fla. 1996), in which a history of mental instability was held sufficient to deny self-representation. The only unusual circumstance discernible from this record was the fact that the state was seeking the death penalty, and that therefore a separate penalty phase might be required-1 Under this court's precedent, the fact that a case is in this posture is plainly insufficient to force counsel on an unwilling accused.

In <u>Hill v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S515a (Nov. 27, 1996), this Court affirmed a first-degree murder conviction and death sentence following trial proceedings in which the accused conducted his own defense. The Court wrote:

^{&#}x27;Although the jury found Hughes guilty of first-degree murder, no penalty phase was held, and he received a life sentence.

As to the nature and complexity of the case, there is nothing particularly complex about the defense of justification or necessity that would lead us to conclude that Hill was unable to make a fully intelligent and understanding choice to waive counsel under rule 3.111(d). Nor does the fact that this is a death penalty case make it so complex that a defendant cannot make an intelligent choice to represent him or herself. It was sufficient that the judge made sure that Hill knew the State would be seeking the death penalty.

21 Fla. L. Weekly at S516 (emphasis added). Likewise, there was nothing particularly complex in this case, in which the sole disputed trial issue was whether the killing was in furtherance of the felony, to warrant a conclusion that Hughes could not make an intelligent, understanding choice to waive counsel. Like Hill, Hughes knew he might be facing the death penalty.

The same day it decided <u>Hill</u>, this Court ruled in <u>Rogers v</u>. <u>Singletary</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S503b (Nov. 27, 1996), that appellate counsel was not ineffective in declining to argue in the direct appeal that Rogers was wrongly granted selfrepresentation in a capital case. This Court concluded that "the record establishes that Rogers knew what he was doing and his choice was made with eyes open." 21 Fla. L. Weekly at S504. Here, Hughes' responses to the trial court's inquiries concerning self-representation demonstrated that his decision was made "knowingly and intelligently" within the meaning of <u>Faretta v</u>. <u>California</u>, 422 U.S. 806 (1975), and Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.111(d) (3). In fact, in pressing for self-

representation in three different court appearances, Hughes correctly cited appropriate statutory authority and accurately informed the trial court of its error in denying him selfrepresentation. (T10, 46-47)

Other precedent in conflict with the district court opinion includes <u>Morris v. State</u>, 667 So.2d 982 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev.</u> <u>dismissed</u>, 673 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 1996), and <u>Adams V. Carroll</u>, 875 F. 2d 1441 (9th Cir. 1989). The <u>Morris</u> panel cautioned against denial of self-representation because of lack of legal knowledge, 667 So. 2d at 987, while the <u>Carroll</u> court granted *habeas* relief to a defendant who, though admittedly incompetent to defend himself, was wrongly denied his right of self-representation.

To its credit, the state acknowledged that the grounds for affirmance relied upon by the district court are insupportable. In its motion for clarification below (Appendix B), it cited <u>Hill</u> and <u>Rogers</u>, <u>supra</u>, and stated:

> These cases indicate that the legal skills of the defendant to try the case are irrelevant to the determination of a valid waiver of counsel. ... Consequently, difficulties presented to a prose defendant in litigating the death penalty do not per se invalidate an otherwise valid invocation of the right to selfrepresentation.

Though respondent urged affirmance on this issue for other reasons (see below), this amounts to a concession of error as to the district court's rationale.

Therefore, the error of the trial court in denying selfrepresentation and the error of the district court in approving this decision are clear. The trial court may not force counsel on a defendant who knowingly waives his or her right to counsel. For the same reasons, the district court must receive a negative answer to its certified question:

> ONCE A TRIAL COURT HAS DETERMINED THAT A DEFENDANT HAS KNOWINGLY WAIVED HIS OR HER RIGHT TO COUNSEL, MAY THE COURT NONETHELESS REQUIRE THE DEFENDANT TO BE REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL BECAUSE OF CONCERN THAT THE DEFENDANT MIGHT BE DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL IF TRIED WITHOUT SUCH REPRESENTATION?

However, this Court may choose to rephrase the question. Previously certified in <u>Bowen, supra</u>, this question does not contemplate the status of a case as a capital **case** in pondering the trial court's authority to deny self-representation. While it appears Bowen was facing first-degree murder charges when he attempted to exercise his right to proceed pro se, 677 So. 2d at 864, the opinion does not reveal whether the state was seeking the death penalty. A question of great public importance better tailored to the circumstances of this **case** may be:

> DOES THE SPECIAL **STATUS** OF A CAPITAL CASE CONSTITUTE AN "UNUSUAL CIRCUMSTANCE" AUTHOR-IZING THE TRIAL COURT TO DENY **SELF**-REPRESENTATION TO AN ACCUSED WHO HAS KNOWINGLY WAIVED THE RIGHT TO COUNSEL?

Consistent with <u>Hill</u> and <u>Rogers</u>, <u>supra</u>, this question also must be answered in the negative. In accord with this answer, the

decision of the district court must be quashed and the case remanded with directions to reverse Hughes' convictions and remand for a new trial.

Though the state could not abide the district court's rationale for affirmance, it argued below that Hughes did not unequivocally invoke and maintain his right of selfrepresentation. The district court opinion turned solely on whether the trial court was authorized to deny the request for self-representation because of "unusual circumstances," suggesting it perceived no lack of clarity in Hughes' request. The court stated that it was writing "to address the appellant's assertion that the trial court erred in denying his unequivocal request to represent himself." <u>Slip op.</u> at 1.

Moreover, the record belies any assertion that Hughes' demand was equivocal. From the February 3 hearing:

> THE DEFENDANT: See, I would like to object, Your Honor, because I don't -- I filed the Statute 454.18 --THE COURT: Hold on, Mr. Hughes. You filed a what? Statute? THE DEFENDANT: Gave judicial notice of 454.18 dismissing my counsel. And, see, I would like to invoke my rights. I find that on January 4th, that I'm invoking my rights to represent myself. THE COURT: YOU filed a request to discharge your court appointed attorney. THE DEFENDANT: Yes, sir. I gave judicial notice on January 4th. (T10)

From the February 10 hearing:

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