IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

4

FILED SID J. WHITE APR 28 1997 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By_____ Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 89,919

ν.

,

STATE OF FLORIDA,

ARTHUR LEE HUGHES,

Respondent.

Petitioner,

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH AT'TORNEY GENERAL JAMES W. ROGERS TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791 STEPHEN R. WHITE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 159089 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600 COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

> The Florida Supreme Court recently reaffirmed this view in <u>Hill v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S515 (Fla. Nov. 27, 1996):

We emphasize that a defendant does not need to possess the technical legal knowledge of an attorney before being permitted to proceed pro se. As the [United States] Supreme Court stated in <u>Godinez v. Moran</u> 509 U.S. 389, 399, 113 S. Ct. 2680, 125 L. Ed: 2d 321 (1993),, 'the competence that is required of a defendant seeking to waive his right to counsel is the competence to waive the right, not the competence to represent himself.'

Id. at S516 (emphasis added and omitted).

Based on the foregoing, we hold that once a court determines that a competent defendant of his or her own free will has 'knowingly and intelligently' waived the right to counsel, the dictates of <u>Faretta</u> are satisfied, the inquiry is over, and the defendant may proceed unrepresented. *** The court may not inquire further into whether the defendant 'could provide himself with a substantively qualitative defense,' *** for it is within the defendant's rights, if he or she so chooses, to sit mute and mount no defense at all.

Therefore, the certified question should be answered in the negative, but, as discussed <u>supra</u>, Hughes should not now be allowed to invoke his right to counsel on retrial of the proceedings.

ISSUE II

DID THE TRIAL COURT FAIL TO CONDUCT AN ADEQUATE INQUIRY INTO HUGHES' REQUEST TO DISCHARGE COUNSEL? (Restated)

Issue I is dispositive. Hughes had the right to represent himself. However, in Issue II, Hughes essentially claims that he had the right to further trial-court inquiry about different counsel because he accuses court-appointed counsel of incompetency. The State disputes Issue II, but, because Issue I is dispositive, only briefly addresses it.

Hughes' dispute with his attorney distilled to accusations that court-appointed counsel had not communicated with him and a difference of opinion concerning tactics. These were insufficient to allege a prima facie case of incompetency and thereby trigger any inquiry into the competency of counsel. <u>See Capehart v.</u> <u>State</u>, 583 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 1991) ("Without establishing adequate grounds, a criminal defendant does not have a constitutional right to obtain different court-appointed counsel").

A lack of communication is not a ground for an incompetency claim. <u>Watts v. State.</u> 593 So.2d 198, 203 (Fla. 1992), had no trouble rejecting a claim that his attorneys "had not been to see him in the jail." There, as here, "no further inquiry was warranted."

Similarly, allegations of disagreements between counsel and the defendant, such as over tactics, are not prima facie grounds for incompetency requiring a hearing. In <u>Smith v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. **1994**), counsel and the defendant disagreed about

- 13 -

whether to present testimony that counsel thought to be false. Smith affirmed in the face of Smith's claim that the trial court "violated Smith's constitutional right to effective assistance of counsel and self-representation by failing to inquire" of counsel. No hearing was required. Similarly, no hearing was required here.

Therefore, defense counsel's responsive explanation to Hughes' complaints provided more than what Hughes deserved:

There are two co-defendants. One is a juvenile who is alleged to have fired the fatal shot. The depositions, relative to the preparation of Mr. Hughes' case, were completed, in my opinion, fairly early on. The problem has been, and I explained this to Mr. Hughes at great length, that the Public Defender's Office represents one of the codefendants, and they have not completed their discovery, or at least the last I heard, it had not been completed. Because of the local ruling it was up to Mr. Metzger [public defender representing accomplice Jones] to set the depositions.

The depositions I wanted to take, were already taken and were prepared from that standpoint. The reason I didn't demand a speedy trial is I didn't want, from a tactical standpoint, Mr. Hughes tried by himself. I explained to him before, that given the background of the case it would be in his best interest to be tried along with the person who I think is more culpable.

The delay has been waiting for the co-defendants to complete their preparations. We could go ahead to trial. There is nothing else, from my standpoint, to be done. Since Ms. Corey is not going to waive the death penalty, I need to file a death penalty motion.

(T 23-24) Defense counsel then responded to a trial-court query concerning Hughes' wish "to argue his motion for discharge"; counsel referred to case law provided by the State indicating that pro se motions are "a nullity" if the defendant is

- 14 -

represented by counsel. (III 24) Counsel then explained why he did not wish to adopt Hughes' pro se speedy trial motions:

The problem with my doing that, frankly, as an officer of the court, is that again as a tactical matter, I am convinced it would be in this defendant's best interest to be tried jointly with the other co-defendants. So that in order to demand speed[y] trial, I have to allege that I'm prepared and willing to go to trial. Although, I'm prepared and not willing, from the standpoint of, I don't want to go to trial apart from the other codefendants.

And I also have to represent to the Court that I, on numerous occasions, when this matter was continued, I voiced no objection and joined in the initial motion for a continuance, which I think has effectively waived speedy trial.

(III 24-25) Thus, Hughes' request for a different attorney (III

17) was insufficient on which to base any reversible error.

Moreover, there were numerous instances in the trial indicating free-flowing communication between counsel and Hughes, and there was no indication that counsel's performance was deficient due to a lack of pre-trial communication between counsel and Hughes:

• In his voir dire of the jury (IV 133-35), opening statement (V 200-201), cross-examinations (VI 426-29, 528-30; VII 681-87), and closing arguments (VIII 809-17, 836-42), counsel hammered the defense theory that the killing was not in furtherance of the robbery/burglary.'

¹ The main theme of counsel's defense was to convince the jury that the killing was not in furtherance of any felony of which Hughes was a participant. This was a viable defense strategy below, but whether the events at the robbery/burglary of the victims' home satisfied the classic "in-furtherance-of"

- In his cross-examinations of key State's witnesses, counsel succinctly targeted a core idea ok the witnesses'
 weakness(es). (See V 288-92, 320-23; VI 426-31, 528-32: VII 681-87, 692)
- Similarly, in his closing arguments, defense counsel not only hammered the not-in-furtherance-of defense but also argued other significant ideas designed to assist Hughes, including the historical importance of the reasonable doubt standard (<u>See</u> VIII 805-807, 809, 840-41), the prosecution's burden of proof (VIII 816), the tragic nature of the victim's death for someone else to be held responsible (VIII 836, 839, 841), and aspects of Hughes' statement to the police favorable to him (VIII 837).

The extensive experience of Hughes' counsel (<u>See</u> III: 11: prosecutor referred to defense counsel high caliber; III 32: additional pending first degree murder case; I 27: bar number of 157378) was brought to bear on his trial.² As every experienced litigator knows, "hindsight is twenty-twenty," and a loss is not necessarily reflective of substandard preparation or performance. Issue II distills to a desire for more pre-trial "hand-holding"

definition of felony murder was for the jury to determine. It did not provide the basis for any special requested instruction on independent acts or his related argument in Issue III.

Although not necessary to resolve the issue here, counsel's extensive experience is another factor indicating the lawfulness of the trial court's actions, <u>Jones v. State</u>, 612 So. 2d 1370, 1373 (Fla. 1992)(trial judge pointed out attorney's extensive trial experience and "that he had never known Pearl to compromise his advocacy").

and his re-interpretation of the history of the events of this case "enlightened" through Hughes' distaste for the jury's verdict.

Arguendo, under the foregoing circumstances, any alleged ineffectiveness pre-trial was rendered harmless by the time of trial. <u>See § 924.33</u>. Fla. Stat.; <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE III.

DID THE TRIAL COURT REVERSIBLY ERR BY MISLEADING THE JURY WITH ITS FELONY-MURDER INSTRUCTIONS IN THE CONTEXT OF COUNSELS' ARGUMENTS, ALL OF THE TRIAL COURT'S INSTRUCTIONS, AND THE ADMITTED EVIDENCE ESTABLISHING CLASSIC FELONY MURDER? (Restated)

As in Issue II, the State addresses this issue in an abundance of caution.

Issue III was not preserved and was waived.

Consistent with his theory of defense, trial counsel explicitly and repeatedly agreed to, and argued for, an independent-act instruction (VIII 750, 752, 755-56, 759-60, 765, 770, 895), which the State persistently opposed (VIII 751, 754, 755-56, 763-65, 770, 802). Hughes complains on appeal about the instruction that his counsel requested. As such, Issue III was not preserved. <u>See Archer v. State</u>, 673 So.2d 17, 20-21 (Fla. 1996) ("failure to define reasonable doubt to the jury in the sentencing phase of a capital trial is not fundamental error"; "Similarly, we reject Archer's claims that the trial court erred in failing to give the jury any general instructions or miscellaneous instructions on principals").

Hughes has not demonstrated that the supposed error here is any more serious than the claim in <u>Burns v. State</u>, 609 So.2d 600, 604 (Fla. 1992). There,

> Burns maintains that the short-form standard jury instruction on excusable homicide that was read to the jury is inherently misleading because it

> > - 18 -

incorrectly suggests a homicide committed with a deadly weapon can never be excusable, thereby negating his defense of an accidental shooting. However, defense counsel did not object to this instruction, and the giving of the instruction, as worded, is not fundamental error.

Moreover, even if the purported error is fundamental, it was waived. <u>See State v. Lucas</u>, 645 So. 2d 425, 427 (Fla. 1994) ("exception [to fundamental error] . . . where defense counsel affirmatively agreed to or requested the incomplete instruction"); <u>Armstrong v. State</u>, 579 So. 2d 734, 735 (Fla. 1991) ("By affirmatively requesting the instruction he now challenges . . . waived any claim of error in the instruction"); <u>Gunsbv v. State</u>, 574 So.2d 1085, 1089 (Fla. 1991) ("Gunsby not only did not object to the instruction given by the trial judge, he expressly approved the instructions given. Even if there was error in how these instructions were given, under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.390(d), Gunsby may not now raise this issue"; collecting authorities).

<u>A fortiori</u>, here the independent act instruction, as given, was a correct statement of the law, albeit gratuitously given. Hughes was entitled to no such instruction whatsoever where the facts overwhelmingly showed "classic" felony murder. The instruction therefore did not harm Hughes.

The instruction was a correct statement of the law, especially when viewed in the context of the other instructions.

The contested language was a correct statement of the law. As such, it was properly given. <u>See Wilson v. State</u>, 284 So. 2d 24,

- 19 -

26 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973) ("wilfully" used in instruction but not defined) <u>reversed on other around</u> 294 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 1974); <u>U.S. v. Jiminez</u>, 484 F.2d 91, 92 (5th Cir. 1973) ("defendant has no right to a charge in any particular language"). The trial court's instruction closely tracked the language in <u>Brvant v.</u> <u>State</u>, 412 So, 2d 347 (Fla. 1987), which Hughes' counsel had cited to the trial court (VIII 746-48).

Moreover, the entire package of jury instructions presented the jury an accurate picture of the applicable law, as the trial court instructed the jury on:

- First Degree Premeditated Murder (VIII 846-47);
- First Degree Felony Murder (VIII 847-50);
- Principal theory, including a correct definition -

I will now explain the principal theory.

If two or more persons help each other commit or attempt to commit a crime and the defendant is one of them, the defendant is a principal and must be treated as if he had done all of the things the other person or persons did if the defendant; one, knew what was going to happen; two, intended to participate actively or by sharing in an expected benefit; and, three, actually did something by which he intended to help commit the crime.

"Help" means to aid, plan or assist.

(VIII 850-51) See Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim) 3.01;

 The contested portion of the instruction that "combined" the felony murder rule with the law of principals and included a requirement that the State prove causation (VIII 851);

- Lesser-included offenses of First Degree Murder (VIII 851-56), including mentioning without defining principals in conjunction with Third Degree Murder (VIII 854) until the end of the Third Degree Murder instruction (VIII 856), where the trial court defined it without any of the contested "causation" language;
- Burglary, as Count II (VIII 857-60);
- Lesser-includeds of Burglary (T 860-62);
- The three counts of Armed Robbery (VIII 862-66);
- Lesser-includeds of Armed Robbery (VIII 866-68);
- Robbery elements and lesser-includeds to the charges (VIII 868-81), reasonable doubt, the presumption of innocence, and other general instructions (VIII 881-93).

The trial court's principal instruction accurately required the State to prove that:

[T]he death of [James Timothy Channelle] occurred as a **Consequence** of and while Arthur Lee Hughes was engaged in the commission of a robbery or burglary, or the death occurred as a consequence of and while Arthur Lee Hughes or an accomplice was escaping from the immediate scene of the robbery or burglary.

(VIII 847; I 75. <u>See</u> VIII 847; I 75: State required to prove that Hughes was a principal with the killer) As defense counsel in the charge conference accurately pointed out, "consequence is the operative word" (VIII 763).

Buford v. Dugger, 841 F. 2d 1057 (11th Cir.

1988) (constitutional issue) is substantially on point. There, the trial court had interjected the term "associates" into its Felony-Murder jury instruction, There, as here, the defendant

- 21 -

claimed on appeal that the instruction was tainted by the interjected concept. <u>Buford</u> looked at the totality of the instructions to conclude that the

instruction given on 'associates' did not authorize a finding of guilt unless the death of the victim was the result of activity by associated persons within the scope of the association. Therefore, it did not authorize a finding of petitioner's guilt based upon independent acts of the claimed other participant outside the scope of his association.

841 F. 2d at 1059. Here, the totality of the instructions did not mislead the jury. <u>See Green v. State</u>, 184 So. 504, 508 (Fla. 1938) (in context of other instructions, failure to define "an array of force" not error).

The trial court erred yet again against the State. The trial court neglected to tell the jury that the instruction on principals, which had been accurately defined, applied to the other charges. Thus, the trial court's answer to the jury's question whether the principal theory applied to all of the counts reflected the jury's acumen, and the trial court's answer provided them with the correct answer. Hughes' complaint about the trial court's answer to the jury question (IB 33) rings hallow: It is based on the faulty premise that the instruction he now contests was presented to the jury as the principal theory, the faulty premise that the instruction was misleading, the faulty premise that there were no other instructions clearly stating the law of principals, and the faulty premise that, under the facts of this case, the contested instruction had any effect whatsoever.

- 22 -

Arguendo, any error was harmless.

The forgoing paragraphs indicate the harmlessness of any supposed defect in the instruction. <u>See Sneeringer v. State</u>, 469 So. 2d 125, 126 (Fla. 1985)(instruction erroneously changing "were" to "weren't," harmless in light of "the total instruction on entrapment and the arguments to the jury"). The instruction on principals was pertinent to the facts, and it was correctly given. Moreover, if anything, the contested instruction provided Hughes with a windfall, in the context of facts showing his integral involvement in a felony murder.

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